THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 62,819



vs.

FRANK GRIFFIN

Appellant

THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee

* * * * * *

An Appeal From the 11th Judicial Circuit of the State of Florida

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MELVIN S. BLACK Suite 1002, Executive Plaza 3050 Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33137 (305) 573-6622 Counsel for Appellant

INTRODUCTION

This is an appeal from a judgment of guilt and imposition of a sentence of death for murder in the first degree and a consecutive life sentence for armed robbery. The appellant, Frank Griffin, was a defendant in the lower court, and the appellee, State of Florida, was the prosecution. In this brief, the parties will be referred to either by name or as they stood below. The Record will be designated by "R." for Record On Appeal and the letter "T." designates the transcript of lower court proceedings. Pagination is based upon the Clerk's Index rather than with the court reporter pagination. All emphasis is supplied unless otherwise indicated.





STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An Information was filed against the defendant in the Circuit Court of the 11th Judicial Circuit in and for Dade County, on February 25, 1982. (R.7-10a). A superceding Indictment was filed on March 5, 1982, (R.11-12a), charging the defendant with first degree murder and armed robbery, under Case No. 82-3268-B. The defendant filed a pretrial motion to discharge which was denied. (R.68-68a). Following jury trial on September 8 through September 10, 1982, the defendant was found guilty of first degree murder and armed robbery. (R.141,146). The trial court adjudicated the defendant guilty of armed robbery and first degree murder (R.142-143). After the sentencing hearing on September 16, 1983, the jury returned an advisory verdict of death (T.938). The trial court sentenced the defendant to death for the first degree murder conviction with a consecutive prison term of life imprisonment for the armed robbery conviction on September 17, 1983. (R.156-159). A motion for new trial was heard on October 15, 1982, and denied on October 18, 1982. (R.164-164a). This appeal was then instituted. (R.168).

-2-

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On April 2, 1981, the body of Raul Nievez was found at a U-Tote-M convenience store at 602 N.W. 57th Avenue, Miami, Florida. (T-515). He had been shot twice. (T.515).

SPEEDY TRIAL ISSUE

On May 19, 1981, the defendant, Frank Griffin, was in the Dade County Jail awaiting trial on unrelated robbery charges. (T .-Detectives Wasserman and Ilhardt came to the Dade County Jail 76). and ordered the defendant to be brought down from his cell to the lobby. (T.78). According to the defendant, Detective Ilhardt told him at that time that he was under arrest for the first degree murder of Raul Nieves. (T.138). Detective Wasserman testified the officers did not tell the defendant he was under arrest. Wasserman testified further that he and Det. Ilhardt took the defendant away from the Dade County Jail but did not tell him of the pending investigation until they had taken him out of the jail to the police car. (T.78). Both Detective Ilhardt and Detective Wasserman confirmed the fact that the defendant did not want to leave the Dade County Jail. (T.80,170). Det. Wasserman acknowledged that Frank Griffin was not given an opportunity to refuse to go with the police officers. (T.100-101).

Detective Ilhardt testified that the defendant refused to leave the jail with the detectives. (T.170). A jailer in the lobby area came over to the defendant and quieted him down because the defendant was loud and belligerent in his protest. (T.92-97). Mr. Griffin was handcuffed and taken out of the jail by Ilhardt and

-3-

Wasserman. (T.171). The Detectives testified that the defendant waived his rights when given an oral advice of rights in the police car. (T.79). However the defendant refused to sign a form for the waiver of his constitutional rights when one was presented to him at the police station. (T.108,186-87). At the police station, the defendant was subjected to an interrogation that lasted two hours. (T.180). He was shown evidence from the police investigation including the fingerprint comparison and the taped statement of one Gerald Nichols and questioned about the murder. (T.180). The defendant denied involvement. (T.180).

The same police officers questioned Johny Stokes, who later testified against the defendant. Johny Stokes was also in jail in May of 1981 on unrelated robbery charges. The same police officers came to the Dade County Jail and advised Stokes that they were charging him with first degree murder on May 12 or 13, 1981. (T.119). Stokes made numerous requests for his attorney to be present during the interrogation which took place at the Miami Police Department, but these requests were refused. (T.120). Steven Haguel, who was Stokes' attorney, testified that he had advised the police officers that he wanted to be contacted and to be present at any time that they wished to question his client. The officers ignored this request and questioned Stokes without first advising his attorney that they were questioning him. (T.112,119).

Based upon these events, the defendant filed a Motion to Suppress Statements, Admissions and Confession (R.69-70a) and a Motion for Discharge (R.68-68a). The statement he sought to suppress was a declaration by the defendant that he had not been to the

-4-

U-Tote-M. (T.176-178). After hearing testimony, the Court made the

following findings:

I'm going to grant the Motion to Suppress on the ground the State has not proved to the Court the defendant knowingly and voluntarily waived his rights under the Miranda decision and voluntarily made the statement the State seeks to introduce.

* * * *

This is another factor I considered and in this case he did not initiate the contact. The police came to him and got him out of jail. <u>I don't believe he had much ability</u> to refuse to go.

I think that there was conflicts between the two officers that the defendant really accompanied them voluntarily. I don't believe that was sufficient.

(T.215-216)

The Court granted the motion to suppress the statement by the defendant that he had never been to the scene of the crime. (T.217,178).

Based upon the testimony at the motion to suppress hearing, the defendant also moved for discharge under the Speedy Trial Rule on the ground that he had been in custody from May 19, 1981, when he was placed under arrest, without being brought to trial. (R.68-68a, T.164). When the motion for discharge was announced, the Court responded:

> Certainly the understanding all along that the speedy trial time has been extended for whatever reasons. So, I will deny that motion based on all the discussions that we had in regard to the speedy trial rule. Even if you had a valid reason on that basis, I think your subsequent agreement to extend the speedy trial period, and specifically to extend it for this period of time, I think would waive any objections.

> > -5-

MR. MAYS: This is my point. The speedy trial had already expired and my client is correct and also Mr. Stokes is correct, both of them were told on May 11 or 12 that they were arrested, speedy trials were expired long before the Defense took any objections with respect to an extension. After the speediesexpires, there is nothing anybody can do to extend it.

THE COURT: You may go ahead and file the motion, but I will be denying to this charge on that basis.

(T.164-165)

There is no other discussion in any of the transcripts or the Record on Appeal regarding the issue of speedy trial except for the hearing on July 20, 1982, one of the dates that the case was set for trial. The following is the entire transcript of testimony and proceedings in the record on July 20, 1982:

THE COURT: Why is Mr. Griffin here today?

MR. MAYS: Forgive my state of dress. The Court recalls that I would not have to be here because Mr. Kahn, the prosecutor, was tied up in another matter. I was called this morning by my client and advised that he was on the calendar for a trial status.

MR. KAHN: He may be on the robbery case.

MR. MAYS: No, this is the murder case.

THE COURT: Both cases are set for trial. It is possible we may reach the robbery case but not the murder case. The murder case will have to be reset within the speedy trial date which means before August 2nd, I believe. You will be advised of that. If anything goes to trial against Mr. Griffin, it will be the robbery case this week.

MR. MAYS: Thank you.

(Thereupon, the hearing was concluded.)

(T.64)

There is no order of extension of speedy trial period in the record nor any other transcript referring to an extension of speedy trial period prior to the hearing on September 8th set forth above. Nor is there any motion for extension of speedy trial period. Examination of the court file insert sheet reflects that on July 20, 1982, "counsel stipulated to 60-day extension of speedy trial expiration date, 10-1-82." (R-3).

Additionally, the trial court insert sheet reflects no hearings between July 20 and August 25, 1982. (R.3).

Prior to commencement of voir dire, the following conversation took place on the record:

> THE COURT: May I see the indictment or information?

THE CLERK: Here is the indictment.

THE COURT: Before we proceed, I want to have a jury panel reserved. There will be a twelve person jury; is that correct?

MR. KAHN: Yes.,

THE COURT: Has there been any discussions about waiving that?

MR. KAHN: I offered a plea pursuant to discussions we had before we came as to the hearing yesterday afternoon and obviously it's been denied.

MR. MAYS: He offered life sentence with the minimum mandatory of 25 years. My client, after careful deliberation, reputed it.

THE COURT: Is the State asking for the death penalty in this case?

MR. KAHN: Yes, Your Honor.

VOIR DIRE

Five jurors were excluded by the Court because of their views on the death penalty. During preliminary questioning of the panel, the Court asked:

[The Court] Is there anyone in the first row who feels opposed to capital punishment? How about the second row? Would you pronounce your name for me?

MS. TSIOMAKIDIS: Naomi Tsiomakidis. THE COURT: Mrs. Tsiomakidis, I assume you have some personal objections to capital punishment?

MS. TSIOMAKIDIS: Yes.

THE COURT: My question to you is this. Would your personal feelings about capital punishment in opposition to capital punishment, would that interfere with your ability to make a decision in the first phase of this trial as to whether the State has proved the defendant guilty?

MS. TSIOMAKIDIS: In the first phase I don't believe so.

* * * *

THE COURT: In other words you would vote to find the defendant guilty if you believe the State proved its case?

MS. TSIOMAKIDIS: Yes.

THE COURT: Now, let's assume the defendant has been found guilty of first degree murder. Is your personal feeling opposed to capital punishment such that you would never under any circumstances be able to recommend the imposition of the death penalty or are there certain circumstances under which you would recomend?

MS. TSIOMAKIDIS: I would not.

THE COURT: You would not under any circumstances?

MS. TSIOMAKIDIS: No.

THE COURT: Now, in my questions that we have gone through, is there anyone in the first row who has anything further to say? Does this bring up any questions to any of you? Anyone else in the second row that has any questions about those matters? Yes, sir?

MR. GRIER: I'm just undecided. I just heard what you said to the young lady and I'm just undecided whether I would go for that second phase.

THE COURT: You understood all the questions that I asked?

MR. GRIER: Yes.

THE COURT: Do I understand, Mr. Grier, that you personally are opposed to the death penalty?

MR. GRIER: Yes.

THE COURT: And because of your own beliefs, you don't think that you could recommend the imposition of the death penalty?

MR. GRIER: No.

THE COURT: Under any circumstances?

MR. GRIER: No.

THE COURT: Is there anybody else on the panel who shares these views or have anything else to say about this subject? Yes, sir?

MR. ATKINS: I feel like the gentleman.

THE COURT: Like Mr. Grier?

MR. ATKINS: Yes.

THE COURT: Would you state in your own words what your belief is? I don't want to put words in your mouth.

MR. ATKINS: I don't think that I could vote for capital punishment or the death penalty.

THE COURT: You understand, Mr. Atkins, that the jury does not make the final decision as to what penalty should be imposed in the case, that it is up to the Judge to make that decision ? The jury does make a recommendation. Are you saying that you would not be able to recommend the death penalty under any circumstances?

MR. ATKINS: No. THE COURT: You cannot? MR. ATKINS: No. MR KAHN: We can't hear. THE COURT: He indicated that he cannot.

(T .237-241).

TRIAL PROCEEDINGS

In summary, the State's case consisted of a partial fingerprint of the defendant on the cash register counter, two bullet casings and one bullet but no gun, and the testimony of Johnny Stokes who testified pursuant to a plea agreement that he and the defendant robbed Nieves and the defendant shot Nieves.

Jorge Auer

Jorge Auer, a Holsum bread delivery man, came to the U-Tote-M convenience store on April 2, 1981, at 3:30 a.m. to make a delivery. (T.477-479). Mr. Auer testified that no customers were in the store

and that Raul Nieves, the decedent, verified the delivery. After completion of the delivery, Auer went to the truck and then re-entered the store to use the restroom. (T.480,490). As Auer came out of the restroom, he noticed Nieves looking down the aisle toward two black men. Auer walked outside and looked back in through a plate glass window where he saw the heads and shoulders of the two black men standing in an aisle. (T.493-5). Mr. Auer was asked if the defendant Frank Griffin was one of the men he saw in the store and Auer responded that he did not know. (T.496-497). Auer testified he became suspicious when he didn't see a car in the parking lot. Auer went to a gas station and told the proprietor to call the police. He then heard two shots from the area of the U-Tote-M. (T.485).

Rene Alvarez

The next witness, Rene Alvarez, lived across the street from the store. He heard the shots and looked outside to see two persons run from the store to a car located under a tree in a vacant

-11-

lot next to the store. (T.511-13). Alvarez could not tell if the two persons were black or white or male or female. (T.513). Alvarez ran to the store where he found the cash drawer open and Nieves' body behind the cash register counter facing down with the right arm under his body and his head away from the front door. (T.514).

The State sought to introduce six photographs of the body. The defendant's objections that the photos served no purpose except to arouse passions were overruled, and the photos were admitted except for one photo which was deemed repetitious of the others. (T.530,533-535,546). The photographs which appear at R.71-74 are of Nieves' nude chest, back, and abdomen were taken after the medical examiner assisted in removing the clothing from the body at the scene. (T.548). One photograph shows the face of the decedent with <u>eyelids open</u>, eyes rolled back, and lower jaw <u>dropped away.</u> (R.71).

Gary Ludwig, M.D.

The assistant medical examiner testified that the decedent had two gunshot wounds. Both shots were at a 45 degree downward angle from front to back. (T.155). One of the shots entered at the upper part of the chest, passed downward and left to right through the left lung, heart, and liver before exiting from the right side. (T.544-545). The other gunshot wound was an entry at the abdomen on the left side with a downward pathway left to right and front to back exiting the lower back. This shot was a flesh wound and was not fatal. (T.56).

-12-

In describing the 45-degree angle of the bullets, Dr.

Ludwig pointed out that the angle could be interpreted in various

ways:

The muzzle was pointed downwards at approximately a 45-degree angle in relationship to the body. That doesn't mean necessarily the gun was pointed downwards. It could be the body was leaning forwards while the gun was horizontal. There are various ways that would explain why it is going downwards. (T.551)

Dr. Ludwig testified that the order of the gunshots wasn't ascertained. (T.551). The prosecutor attempted to get the medical examiner to speculate that the fatal shot was fired after the first shot to the stomach caused the victim to double over. (T.551)(The inference being that the fatal wound was not from a spontaneous gunshot). Dr. Ludwig responded only, "<u>That would be one</u> <u>possibility</u>." (T.552).

Johnny Stokes, an alleged accomplice-turned-witness described the sequence of shots as follows:

I told Frank let's go. As we were leaving I heard a shot and turned around and seen the guy falling back in to the cigarette rack and there was another shot. I said let's go and we ran. (T.630-631).

: * * *

Q. (By the State Attorney) Now, when the young man was shot the first time would you please show us exactly with the Court's permission, stand up here in front and show us exactly what he did after he was shot with the first shot, what did you see him do?

A. <u>He backed up to the cigarettes like</u> this and was about to fall. Q. Which way was he leaning when he was about to fall. Was he leaning backwards or forwards when he started to fall?

A. He was just falling.

Q. Do you remember which direction he was going before the second shot.?

A. Forwards.

Q. The body was going forward when the second shot w as fired?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you see that shot fired the second time?

A. <u>I heard it but I didn't see where it</u> hit.

Q. Did you see what the young man did when he was hit the second time?

A. No. he fell to the floor.

(T.632)

Robert Sarnow

The crime scene technician, Robert Sarnow, testified that he found two spent shell casings in front of the cash register counter and a projectile in the rack behind the counter. (T.562-563). Five latent prints were taken from the counter and a total of 37 from the store. The technician couldn't specify exactly where the latents were lifted. He could only testify to general areas. (T.584-588).

Johnny Stokes

The alleged accomplice Johnny Stokes testified that he had maintained his and the defendant's innocence when questioned by the police in May, 1981, and again in February, 1982, for one and onehalf hours of interrogation (T.661,645), during which time Stokes'

-14-

requests for his lawyer to be called were ignored. (T.652). Stokes explained that he finally admitted involvement because:

Well, he kept interrogating me and kept saying do I want to go to prison and all. He told me I might become homosexual and all because it was my first time. I got shook up about it. It started coming to be about my family and kids, and I said I might as well cooperate. (T.646).

In exchange for his testimony, Stokes was sentenced to a 25-year sentence total for two unrelated robberies and the first degree murder of Nieves with a six year mandatory sentence without parole. (T.618).

Stokes testified he and the defendant Griffin entered the U-Tote-M, leaving George Nichols outside in the car. (T.622-626). After the Holsum delivery man (Jorge Auer) left, they both approached the counter and Griffin pulled a gun and asked for money. (T.-629). Stokes testified that the clerk handed about \$60 to him. Stokes then tried to pull the gold chain off Nieves neck. (T.630). After getting the chain and money, Stokes started to leave. As noted previously in this statement of facts, Stokes did not see what transpired between Griffin and Nieves, but he heard a shot and turned around to see the defendant fire a second shot at Nieves. (T.-630-632).

When Stokes and Griffin reached the car, Nichols asked what happened. Stokes testified that the defendant said, "I shot the cracker. The cracker is bleeding like a hog." (T.636). Ivan Almeida

The latent fingerprint comparison expert, Ivan Almeida,

-15-

was allowed to fingerprint the defendant--despite objection--immediately prior to his testimony because the State had lost the fingerprint standard card. (T.685). The newly made fingerprint standard card (R.91) was admitted over objection even though it contained a statement that the signature of the person printed had been "refused" and a notation "taken by court order, Judge Smith's Room". (R.91, T.697).

Almeida testified that the latent had 16 points of comparison to the left index of the defendant. (T.698).

The State rested and the defendant's motion for directed verdict was denied. (T.704). The Court compelled counsel for the defendant to announce that the defense was resting notwithstanding repeated requests by defense counsel for permission to rest outside of the presence of the jury. (T.707,731,732).

INSTRUCTIONS-GUILT OR INNOCENCE

The instructions given by the court are found at R.104-140. The instruction on premeditation deviates from the Standard Jury Instruction promulgated by this Court by excluding the required sentence: "The premeditated intent to kill must be formed before the killing." The instructions given also omitted the standard instruction required when there are instructions on both premeditated murder and felony murder:

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