#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 62,819

FILED WHITE

APR 6 1984

FRANK GRIFFIN,

Appellant,

vs.

CLERK SUPREME WOURT

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA

### BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

JACK B. LUDIN
Assistant Attorney General
Ruth Bryan Owen Rohde Building
Florida Regional Service Center
401 N.W. 2nd Avenue (Suite 820)
Miami, Florida 33128
(305) 377-5441

###

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

The fact of other cases are similar and support this statement. In State v. Miller, 437 So.2d 734 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), the defendant was in jail on an unrelated charges when a police investigator removed him to an interrogation facility. The defendant was Mirandized and signed a written waiver form. He was then questioned about the crime for which he claimed a speedy trial violation. The court held therein that the mere giving of Miranda warnings and being interrogated were not sufficient to commence the speedy trial time period. The defendant attempts to distinguish this case by claiming the defendant was taken from the jail and refused to sign a written waiver. The State would point out that the defendant willingly left the jail and verbally waived his rights, assuming these factors are even significant.

In <u>Snow v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, the defendant was an inmate in jail when accused of sexual assault. The defendant was placed in another cell. It was held that moving the defendant did not constitute an arrest. The defendant was

later Mirandized and questioned. Significantly, the defendant was not told whether charges would be filed against him. The court held he was not in custody for purposes of the speedy trial rule. Also see Thomas v. State, 405 So.2d 1015 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981); State v. Breedlove, supra.

In summary, the significant point is that the detectives had no intent to arrest the defendant. They did not convey an intent to presently arrest the defendant and the defendant could not reasonably draw such an inference. The defendant's attempt after the fact to infer an arrest from the police investigation is not supported by the record or by the law. Essentially all the police did was to willingly take the defendant from the jail, where he was properly incarcerated, to the police station. The defendant was Mirandized and quetioned. When he indicated he no longer wanted to be questioned, the detectives returned him to the jail. The case law clearly holds these actions do not amount to an arrest or custody for purposes of the speedy trial rule.

In the second part of his argument, the defendant claims that even if the proper arrest date was February 4, 1982, then the defendant was still not tried within the speedy trial rule requirement, which would have been August 2, 1982. The trial occurred on September 9, 1982. The

defendant claims there was no stipulation or order entered extending the speedy trial rule.

The State's response is that the defendant never filed a Motion for Discharge on this basis. He therefore failed to preserve this point for appellate review. Secondly, the defendant's counsel requested continuances on two occasions. On February 25, 1982 the defendant requested a postponement of his arraignment and on March 5, 1982, the defendant requested an extension of the April 19, 1982 trial date. Thirdly, the defendant was not ready for trial on August 2, 1982. He was still conducting discovery. He had not yet deposed the State's key witness, Johnny Stokes, and still had a Motion to Suppress outstanding. Lastly, on July 20, 1982 the defendant stipulated and announced to the court a sixty day speedy trial extension, until October 1, 1982. Trial was completed before that date.

In terms of this issue, the relevant facts are as follows:

February 19, 1982 - The defendant was set for arraignment. The defendant was not available. According to his counsel he was quarantined. (T. 4).

February 25, 1982: The defendant again was set for arraignment. His attorney stated he was not well and requested a postponement of the arraignment until March 4, 1982.

March 5, 1982: The defendant stood mute. The court entered a not guilty plea. The court told the defendant that trial was being set for April 19, 1982. The defendant's attorney stated that this date was completely inappropriate. The defendant's attorney stated any date after that would be acceptable. The court set a trial date of May 17, 1982. (T. 22-23).

May 17, 1982: The court continued the case on its own motion until June 21, 1982. (T. 34).

June 13, 1982: The court set the defendant's case for trial for June 21, 1982. (T. 38).

June 29, 1982: The defendant filed his Motion to Suppress. (R. 56).

June 30, 1982: The State filed an additional witness, Johnny Stokes. (R. 57). The defendant also set the first depositions, that of Detective Wasserman being for July 6, 1982. (R. 58).

July 6, 1982: The defendant set three depositions to occur on July 12, 1982. (R. 59).

July 8, 1982: The defendant set 11 depositions to be taken on July 14 and July 15, 1982. (R. 60-61).

July 9, 1982: The defendant set one deposition for July 15, 1982. (R. 62).

July 20, 1982: With defense counsel, Charles Mays, present, the court reset the murder case to before the speedy trial rule date of August 2, 1982. No exact date was mentioned. (T. 64). The jacket to the court file indicates that on this date defense counsel stipulated to a sixty day extension of the speedy trial rule. The expiration date of the speedy trial rule now to be October 1, 1982. (R. 3).

July 21, 1982: The defendant filed another Motion to Suppress. (R. 70).

August 17, 1982: The defendant filed a Notice of Hearing of his Motion to Suppress to be heard on August 25, 1982. (R. 63).

September 7, 1982: The defendant stated he was ready on the Motion to Suppress but not for trial. He had recently

taken the deposition of Johnny Stokes and spoken to his client. He determined that he needed more time to investigate. The Motion for Continuance was denied. (T. 68). The State Attorney stated at that time that they had a speedy trial problem but were on an extension. The defendant did not deny this statement. (T. 68). At this time, the defendant made a Motion for Discharge on the basis that he was actually arrest on May 19, 1981, not February 4, 1982. (T. 164). The court stated that it was its understanding all along that the speedy trial time was extended. court denied the motion based upon all the discussions it had in regard to the speedy trial rule. The court stated that even if the defendant was correct about the May 19, 1981 arrest, his subsequent agreement to extend the speedy trial time to the specific date of October 1, 1982 waived any objection. (T. 165). The defendant stated after the speedy trial time had run, he could not extend it even by stipulation. (T. 165).

September 8, 1982: The defendant filed his Motion for Discharge on the basis that he was actually arrested on May 19, 1981 not February 4, 1982. (R. 68).

The defendant failed to preserve this point for appellate review. On September 7, 1982, at the time of the Motion to Suppress, the defendant raised his Motion for Discharge. (T.164). The sole basis for the motion was that the defendant was arrested on May 19, 1981, not February 4, 1982. He never raised a claim that assuming the February 4, 1982 arrest date was correct, that the speedy trial rule had still run. To the contrary, he argued that because the proper arrest date was May 19, 1981, his stipulation was invalid as the speedy trial rule had run out when he stipulated. (T.165). On September 8, 1982, the defendant filed his written Motion for Discharge. Again, the only basis raised was that the proper arrest date was May 19, 1981, not February 4, 1982. The defendant therefore failed to raise the present issue before the trial court. omission is significant. The record is sparse on this point because the defendant never addressed the court and allowed the State or the court to create a record. The defendant now looks to this appellate court and complains because the record is too sparse to indicate an extension of the speedy trial rule. The defendant cannot complain for the first time at the appellate level. Rollins v. State, 369 So.2d 950 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978); Montalvo v. State, 323 So.2d 674 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975). Even constitutional issues may be waived by a defendant's failure to timely assert them. Davis v. United States, 409 U.S. 841, 93 S.Ct. 1577 (1973);

Michel v. Louisiana, 350 U.S. 91, 76 S.Ct. 158 (1955); See
also Wainwright v. Sykes, 433 U.S. 72, 97 S.Ct. 2497 (1977);
Francis v. Henderson, 425 U.S. 536, 96 S.Ct. 1708 (1976);
Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S. 501, 96 S.Ct. 169 (1976);
Clark v. State, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978); Castor v. State,
365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978); State v. Barber, 301 So.2d 7
(Fla. 1974); State v. Jones, 204 So.2d 515 (Fla. 1967).

The defendant requested continuances on two occasions. On February 25, 1982, defendant's attorney requested a post-ponement of his arraignment, allegedly because the defendant was not well. The defendant has not personally alleged, indicated or proven in any way that this was correct. The record only contains defense counsel's proffer as to why the defendant was not present. Presuming that the denial of the Motion for Discharge is correct, this proffer must be held inadequate to excuse the defendant's absence. The postponement was therefore a continuance attributable to the defendant. Montalvo v. State, supra.

On March 5, 1982, the court announced a trial date of April 19, 1982. The defendant's attorney stated that this date was completely inappropriate. (T.22). He stated that any date after April 19, 1982 would be appropriate. (T.22). This also was a continuance attributable to the defendant.

The law is clear that if a continuance is attributable

to the defendant and is not excused, a motion for discharge is properly denied. The defendant's continuance does not cause him to relinquish all rights to a speedy trial but only to waive the 180 day provision of the speedy trial rule. The defendant's constitutional guarantee to a speedy trial still exists and the defendant can affirmatively demand speedy trial. Butterworth v. Fluellen, 389 So.2d 968 (Fla. 1980); State v. Daniels, 413 So.2d 1256 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982); State v. Register, 380 So.2d 543 (5th DCA 1980).

The defendant in this cause was still conducting discovery at the time he alleges the speedy trial rule was at an end. Where a defendant is still involved in discovery, he is not considered continously available for trial. Rubiera v. Dade County, 305 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1974); Christopher v. State, 369 So.2d 97 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979). In Burns v. State, 433 So.2d 997 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), the defendant was still taking defense discovery depositions shortly before trial and defense stated his intention to file a motion to suppress prior to trial. The Second District Court of Appeal held this was sufficient to support the trial court's order granting an extension of the speedy trial time.

In this cause, the defendant was told of the state's key witness, Johnny Stokes, on June 30, 1982. As of August 2, 1982, he had not been deposed. He was deposed by the

defendant sometime in September of 1982. The defendant set fifteen discovery depositions for the dates of July 12, 1982 through July 15, 1982. On July 21, 1982, the defendant filed another Motion to Suppress. That motion was still outstanding as of August 2, 1982. The motion was noticed for hearing on August 17, 1982. It is clear therefore that as of August 2, 1982, the defendant was not ready for trial. His Motion to Suppress was still outstanding and he had not even deposed the state's key witness. He had just recently deposed his witnesses for discovery. This evidence makes clear the defendant's unavailability for trial.

Lastly, on July 20, 1982, the defendant presented himself for trial at which time the trial date was reset. The file jacket indicates that on that date, defendant stipulated to a 60 day extension until October 1, 1982. At no time has the defendant denied he entered into this stipulation. Even his argument on appeal actually attacks the stipulation on the basis that it was not recorded in the file, not on the basis that the stipulation was never entered into. On the record, the prosecutor stated that there was an extension. The defendant raised no objection to that statement. (T.68). Later in the same hearing, the court stated that it was its understanding that the speedy trial time had been extended. The defendant argued that the proper arrest date was May 19, 1981. The court

replied that even assuming that was correct, defendant's subsequent agreement to extend the speedy trial rule waived any objection. Significantly, the defendant did not reply that he never entered into a stipulation. The defendant replied that his stipulation was invalid as it was entered into after the speedy trial time had run, assuming that period began on May 19, 1981. It is therefore clear that the defendant entered into a stipulation on July 20, 1982 to extend the speedy trial time and that the court knew about this stipulation. Rule 3.191(d)(2), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, makes it clear that a stipulation need not be in writing. It need only be announced to the court. The committee notes following the rule also state that except for stipulations, all extensions require an order of the court. This rule change is in direct opposition to the prior rule, which required a writing. Whitehead v. State, 309 So.2d 584 (Fla. 2d DCA 1975). The rule in effect at the time of the offense and the trial, did not and does not require a writing. An announcement to the court is suffi-In this case, the court stated that discussions had occurred all along on the speedy trial issue and that it knew of an agreed extension. The presumption of regularity must therefore be that the stipulation was in fact announced to the court.

In summary, the correct arrest date was February 4, 1982, not May 19, 1981. That being true, the defendant

failed to preserve for review his argument that there was no proper extension in the record. Assuming <u>arguendo</u>, he did preserve this issue, the defendant twice requested continuances, thereby waiving his right to a speedy trial within 180 days. Additionally, the defendant was not ready for trial on August 4, 1982 and therefore not available for trial within the purview of the speedy trial rule. Lastly, he stipulated to an extension until October 1, 1982 and announced this stipulation to the court. The trial occurred within this period of extension. The court was therefore correct in denying the defendant's motion for discharge.

VI

THE PROSECUTOR DID NOT MAKE COM-MENTS WHICH REQUIRE REVERSAL OF THIS CASE.

The defendant claims that the prosecutor in his closing argument made a comment upon the defendant's right to silence. The comment is as follows:

Now, by law I don't have an opportunity to address you again. The defense attorney comes up and can rebut anything I brought out in my closing argument.

I will ask you to listen to his arguments closely and objectively as you have been throughout the trial. Weigh his testimony and the evidence and see if it makes sense.

The defendant did not raise an objection.

The State's reply is that the defendant's failure to object, move for a mistrial or even to request a curative instruction waived this point for appellate review. On the merits, the jury could not reasonably infer that the prosecutor was referring to anyone but defense counsel when the comment is placed in context.

The law is clear that where a comment on silence is made by the prosecution, the defense must object and move

for a mistrial. Failure to do so waives the error for appellate review. Ferguson v. State, 417 So.2d 639 (Fla. 1982); Grant v. State, 390 So.2d 341 (Fla. 1980); Clark v. State, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978); Kindell v. State, 413 So.2d 1283 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982); Mancebo v. State, 350 So.2d 1099 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977); Johnson v. State, 348 So.2d 646 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977). The defendant failed to preserve this point for appellate review. He cannot raise it for the first time in this Court.

Going to the merits, the defendant is correct in stating that any comment which is fairly susceptible of being interpreted by a jury as referring to the defendant's failure to testify constitutes reversible error. David v. State, 369 So.2d 943 (Fla. 1979). But, whether the comment is susceptible to that interpretation depends upon the entire context in which the comment was made. Bassett v. State, supra; Gosney v. State, 382 So.2d 838 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980). Where the alleged error in commenting on the defendant's silence can only be reached by straining the construction of the prosecutor's argument, there is no error. Clark v. State, 378 So.2d 1315 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980). Reading the prosecutor's comment in context, it is clear he was referring to the defense counsel's closing argument and Taken in context, it is straining the comment's construction to say that the jury was fairly susceptible to

Delgado v. State, 361 So.2d 726 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978).

In summary, the defendant failed to preserve this point for appellate review. Even if he had, the comment was not improper. By only the most strained construction could the comment be taken to be a reference to the defendant's silence at trial.

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